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President’s Perspective

I have pleasure in
presenting the 2012-2013
Annual Report of the Royal
College of Pathologists of
Australasia on behalf of
Council.
Last year marked a
spiritual renewal for the
College as the Annual
General Meeting voted
in the new constitution
and thereby reinvigorated its governance structure.
Nominations for the Board and the new Council as well
as other committee positions were invited in July. This
year our virtual presence, the College website, will have
completed a major reengineering to facilitate easier
interactions with the College. Work will start on a
physical renewal of the College that should transform
the Terraces to accommodate a boardroom that can
be used as a televideo link-enabled lecture theatre.
Additionally, the heart and body of the College will be
linked by realignment of a gate from Durham Hall to
look into the new Terraces side entrance.
The College hosted the International Liaison of
Pathology Presidents in Sydney this year where a Joint
Statement on International Best Practice in Diagnosis
and Management of Cancer was released. The
centrality of pathology and the pathologist from
diagnosis to prognosis and treatment is reiterated.
The College has also taken a lead in the International
Collaboration on Cancer Reporting with incorporation
of the entity in Australia. This important project grew
out of the College-led National Structured Pathology
Reporting for Cancer and will deliver a uniform set of
cancer data that will allow such data to be comparable
across country borders. The official journal of the
College, Pathology, remains a highly regarded
international journal committed to publishing
peer-reviewed, original articles related to the science
of pathology and has had three successive years
of impact factor increases. The College annual
scientific meeting, Pathology Update, continues to
draw increased attendances, which is a testament to
the strength of its scientific content.
Pathology Day was celebrated across our regions
in May this year, when the College issued a Position
Statement on the use and interpretation of vitamin
D testing. The College remains the best scientific
organisation to provide expertise on matters relating
to pathology test requests and interpretation and will
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assert its leadership in these matters. It is updating
its Position Statement on prostate-specific antigen
testing. The national project for the Standardisation of
Pathology Units and Terminology was completed and
the Standard was endorsed as policy following internal
and public review and approval from all of the main
stakeholders.
Towards the end of last year, the Australian Medical
Council accredited and endorsed the College medical
education and training program. The Faculty of Oral
and Maxillofacial Pathology education and training
program underwent an accreditation review by the
Australian Dental Council this year and the results are
awaited. The College “RCPA Education Portal” continues
to be developed to provide Fellows and Trainees with
online access to a large collection of education and
training materials. The Faculty of Science is now well
established and pathways towards Fellowship of the
Faculty are being implemented with the first pathway,
Fellowship of the Faculty of Science (Research) by
published works, now open to applicants.
The College is implementing the cooperation
agreement with the New Zealand Society of
Pathologists to enable that society to represent New
Zealand Fellows on local medico-political matters.
The Board of Censors is in an advanced stage of
planning with our Singapore Fellows in delivering
a collaborative Exit Examination that will fulfill the
requirements of the Specialist Accreditation Board of
the Singapore Ministry of Health. In Hong Kong and
in Malaysia, where there are local examinations for
pathology specialist training, numbers of RCPA trainees
are low but the College continues to receive enquiries
for admission as Affiliates or as Fellows. College Council
approved extending Affiliate Trainee status to our
colleagues in other developing countries. The College
is active in providing expertise, when called upon, to
the Fiji Medical School Masters of Pathology.
In closing, I wish to thank the Council and the various
committees in the College for their contribution and
the CEO and her Management Team for their diligent
work throughout the year. The College is well
positioned for the challenges ahead and I commend
this Annual Report to you.

Yee Khong
President, RCPA

COUNCILLORS’ REPORT

The Councillors of the Royal College of Pathologists of
Australasia present their report on the College for the
financial year 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013.

Councillors
The names of Councillors (alphabetical) in office at any
time throughout the financial year are listed below:
Dr Stephen Adelstein

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the College during the
course of the financial year were the promotion of
the study of the sciences and practice of pathology in
relation to medicine and the consideration of all
questions affecting the interests of College Fellows, as
well as the encouragement of research in pathology
and ancillary sciences. No significant change in the
nature of these activities occurred during the year.

Dr Michael Aldred

Operating Results

A/Prof Tony Badrick

Details of the operating result for the College as at
30 June 2013					
				
General funds
$699,978
RCPA Foundation
$532,554
Education or Research Funds
($97,532)

Dr Lawrie Bott
Dr Soon-Keng Cheong
Dr Angela Chong
Dr Ian Clark
Dr James D’Rozario
Dr Michael Dray
Dr Michael Harrison

$1,135,000

Dividends
The College is a ‘Not for Profit’ organisation and
as such does not pay dividends.

Prof Pak-Leung Ho
Dr Peter Jessup
Prof Teck Yee Khong
Prof Tony Landgren
Dr Bruce Latham
Prof Richard Logan
Dr Colin MacLeod
Dr Nick Musgrave
Prof John Nicholls
Dr Sophie Otto
Dr David Ranson
Dr Richard Steele
A/Prof Peter Stewart
Dr Elizabeth Tegg
Prof Roger Wilson
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Review of Operations

Council Meetings
Since the last Annual report there have been 3 face
to face meetings of Council, August 2012, November
2012 and February 2013. The August and November
meetings were held at Durham Hall, 207 Albion Street,
Surry Hills NSW and the February 2013 meeting took
place at the Melbourne Convention and Exhibition
Centre. In addition a teleconference was held in
September 2012 to approve the audited financial
accounts.
The August 2012 Council meeting appointed the first
Board of the RCPA Foundation. Council approved
the Policy on Fellowship of the Faculty of Science
(Research) RCPA by Published Works. In another first,
Council approved admission to the Faculty of Oral and
Maxillofacial Pathology for 29 Forensic Odontologists.
A Pathology Informatics Advisory Committee was also
established.

Major documents required for the governance
changes in November 2013 were reviewed and
approved at the February 2013 Council meeting.
These included:
• Board Charter
• ACs Terms of Reference
• BEA Terms of Reference
• BPPQ Terms of Reference
• State and Regional Councillors Roles and
Responsibilities
• Faculty of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology By-laws
• Faculty of Science By-laws
• Council Terms of Reference
• Appointment to Committees Policy

A September 2012 teleconference of Council accepted
the audited financials of the College which had been
sent to Councillors in advance.
The annual two day November Council meeting
included an open discussion forum with Council and
the Advisory Committee Chairs to deliberate on
strategic planning directions. Estimated costs for
renovations to the College premises at 203-205 Albion
Street were presented and approval given for lodging
the Development Application with Sydney City
Council. Further to the ‘Fellowship by Published
Works’ path to Fellowship for the Faculty of Science, a
framework was developed for the curriculum path, and
accepted by Council to proceed to the next stage of
development. Three applicants from developing
countries were approved to receive full sponsorship
to attend Pathology Update 2013 in Melbourne.
Five applicants for Associate Membership of the
College were reviewed and accepted. Award
recommendations for a number of College honours
provided by the Awards Committee were unanimously
accepted.
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Also, approved by the meeting for publication were
the Structured Pathology Reporting Protocols for
Vulva Cancer; Tumours of the Oesophagus and
Gastro-oesophageal Junction; and Endoscopic
Resection of the Oesophagus and Gastro-oesophageal
Junction. The same meeting approved for publication
the Guideline on Pathology Ordering in the Emergency
Department developed by the Australasian College for
Emergency Medicine and the RCPA.

Executive Committee Meetings
Nine Executive Committee meetings were held since
the last Annual Report, via teleconference and face
to face, to deal with much of the day to day business
between the Council meetings.

Review of Operations Cont’d

Pathology Update 2013:
Pathology Update 2013 ran from 22-24 February at
the Melbourne Convention Centre with 1223
delegates in attendance. The scientific streams ran
across all three days with the Innovations program
spread throughout the conference, bringing the
Fellowship together on each day. The Innovations
program included Dr Lee Hilborne who gave the David
Rothfield Memorial Oration titled ”The Curious Case of
Ensuring Pathology and Laboratory Medicine is at the
Centre of the Healthcare Quality Equation”. Dr Charles
Buck presented the Eva Raik Plenary lecture on “You
say Genomics and I say Genetics: the Role of Advanced
Sequencing in Genetic Testing”. Both were very well
received. Master classes as part of the Innovations
program were conducted and the Industry Exhibition
hosted 32 companies.
A successful new initiative sponsored by the
Department of Health and Ageing enabled 25 medical
students to receive full complimentary registration
and 17 other medical students paid a nominal fee to
attend. As always well over 100 local speakers
prepared and delivered talks and participated in
events throughout the 3 days. All international
speakers were extremely well received and included:

The scientific program committees ensure the
success of Pathology Update by their careful original
programing and research that ensures good results
year after year.

Over 400 people were present in the Plenary Hall of
the Melbourne Convention Centre for the Annual
Admission of New Fellows and Awards Ceremony on
Saturday evening, 23 February 2013. Following the
dignified entry of the candidates for Fellowship and
the College Council the Chair of the Board of Censors,
Prof Tony Landgren, presented the candidates to the
President. Regrettably not all those due to receive
certificates were able to attend and be formally
admitted. In addition to the presentation of
certificates to the 70 new Fellows able to attend,
3 Post Graduate diplomas were awarded. 16 of the 29
Founding Forensic Odontology Fellows of the Faculty
of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology also received their
certificates as did 2 of the new Associates. All received
their certificates from College President, Professor Yee
Khong. A number of special awards were also
presented and are highlighted later in this report.
The Edgar Thomson Oration, delivered by the
College President in his/her outgoing year is intended
to provide an inspirational message to the new Fellows
of the College following formal admittance to the
College. This year did not disappoint with an excellent
address from Professor Yee Khong, offering no illusions
as he delivered a candid overview of the state of play
in pathology today.

Committees
The work of the major committees continues and the
contribution of the members is constant and valuable.
The four major committees are the Board of
Censors (BOC), the Board of Education (BOE), Pathology
Professional Activities Committee (PPAC) and Quality
Assurance Education Committee (QASEC). The RCPA
Education portal continues to grow and there are
a stream of ongoing improvements to tools and
assessments for our Trainees. Curriculum updates for
each discipline continue and the dedication and time
input of Chief Examiners and their teams continues to
grow. The College is deeply appreciative of the efforts
and time commitment of all involved.
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Dr Richard Mac DeMay- Anatomical Pathology (USA)
Prof Swee Lay Thein- Haematology
Dr Charles M Strom- Genetics (USA)
Dr Lee H Hilborne- Anatomical Pathology, Genetics and
Laboratory Medicine (USA)
Ms Lynne Garcia- Microbiology (USA)
Dr Kiat Ruxrungtham- Immunopathology (Thailand)

Admission of New Fellows
and Awards Ceremony
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Advisory Committees (ACs)

Performance Measurement

Discipline and other advisory committees continue
with their excellent work providing valuable advice
and support via regular teleconferences and face to
face meetings. Advisory Committee Chairmen met
with Council in November 2012 to discuss their issues
and also participated in forward planning for the
College.

The College monitors membership and trainee
numbers against workforce projections needed to
support ongoing demand for pathology services.
The College implements appropriate strategies to
ensure that the workforce of pathologists and
scientists is sufficient to meet the projected demand
for services.

State and Regional Committees

The College undertakes informal benchmarking of the
subscriptions paid by members against subscriptions
levied by other specialist medical colleges of a similar
size.

Under the guidance of each State/Regional Councillor
an Annual General Meeting is held. Regular committee
meetings are held and some issue newsletters to their
members on a regular basis. They provide a valuable
resource for Fellows and Trainees alike, opening up
lines of communication on local and more general
issues.

State of Affairs
No significant changes in the state of affairs of the
College occurred during the financial year.
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Short and Long Term Objectives
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The College aims to be a self supporting organisation
promoting the study of science and the practice of
pathology to ensure that sufficient expert pathology
services are available to sustain the practice of
medicine and to promote health care in the Australasian region.

Future Developments
The acceptance of a new Constitution and form of
governance (approved by the Fellowship at the AGM
in November 2012), will begin in November 2013 and
significantly impact on the running of the College,
allowing faster decisions on matters and giving better
ability to deal with matters as they arise.
Renovations to 203-205 Albion Street, Surry Hills (the
Terraces) will provide the College with an up to date
Board Room and improve other facilities for the
College. The project is due for completion in 2014.

Environmental Issues
The operations of the College are not subject to
significant environmental regulation under the law of
the Commonwealth or State.

Member Contribution
Fellows of the College, Honorary Fellows of the College
and Fellows of College Faculties would contribute up
to $20 each in the event of winding up.

Incorporation
The College is incorporated and domiciled in NSW,
Australia.

Fellowships Awarded

FELLOWSHIPS AWARDED
DURING THE YEAR
1 July 2012 - 30 June 2013
Dr Ghusoon Abdulhameed ES Abdulrasool
Dr Samuel Ah Kit
Dr Mahmood Ali Salman Al Kindi
Dr Khaled Mohammed Alayed
Dr Michelle Marie-Christine Alizart
Dr Alaa Abdullah Almohammedsalim
Dr Aliki Andreou
Dr Khashayar Asadi
Dr Fatma Saleh Ba Alawi
Dr Yeliena Fay Baber
Dr Kendall Monaghan Bailey
Dr Pasquale Mario Barbaro
Dr Shane Francis Battye
Dr Glenn David Baxter
Dr Brooke Elizabeth Beardsley
Dr Brendan Keith Beaton
Dr Ashanka Mahilal Laksiri Beligaswatte
Dr Abir Bhattacharyya
Dr Peter Alan Boan
Dr Arihia Maia Brewerton
Dr Christian Edward Bryant
Dr Rachael Jane Chambers
Dr Zia Raseeb Chaudry
Dr Chan Yoon Cheah
Dr Svetlana Cherepanoff
Dr Smathi Kuoh K’yet Chong
Dr Saugata Choudhury
Dr John Jason Ciciulla
Dr Rachel Elizabeth Cooke
Dr Oana Angela Crainic
Dr Alexandra Mary Currie
Dr Briony Ann Cutts
Dr Angela Theresa Cymerman
Dr Elizabeth Nicole Da Silva
Dr Mark Leonard Dagger
Dr Dariush Daneshvar
Dr Melanie Edwards
Dr Manal Hassan Sabra El Samman
Dr Nadine Sonia Forde

Dr Erwin Joseph Foster-Smith
Dr Adam Glen Friebe
Dr Robin Edward Gasiorowski
Dr Michael Peter Gilbertson
Dr Joanna Moira Glengarry
Dr Chin Hong Ronald Goh
Dr Paul Mathew Griffin
Dr Judith Sheridan Grogan
Dr Dalugama MDD Nilanga Gunawardane
Dr Nada Hamad
Dr Mireille Julia Hardie
Dr Debra Lynne Duff Hean
Dr Robert John Hensen
Dr Meilyn Hew
Dr Ju Lee H’ng
Dr Claudine Ho
Dr Jane Louise Hollingsworth
Dr Parastoo Irandoost
Dr Kambin Jafari Nejad
Dr David Paul Jama
Dr Hae-Jin Jeong
Dr Ranmini Manaram Pankaja Kalukottege
Dr Kenneth Kam
Dr Alisa Kane
Dr Carl Allan Kennedy
Dr Jennifer Kim
Dr Richard Ian King
Dr Aruna Poojitha Kodituwakku
Dr Sung Shing Jeffrey Kwok
Dr Chiyan Lau
Dr Douglas Stuart Leslie Lenton
Dr Kunawut Limarporn
Dr Tamara Ranjalee Liyanasuriya
Dr Grace Kang-Li Liu
Dr Michaela Lucas
Dr Dona Wathsala Kumudinie Kollura Madola
Dr George Anthony Marshall
Dr Brendan Joseph McMullan
Dr Howard Mutsando
Dr Kyu Kyu Naing
Dr Marija Nedeljkovic
Dr Frans Johannes Niemann
Dr Emma Louise Palfreyman
Dr Renae Danielle Parker
Dr Leonardo Pasalic
7
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Fellowships Awarded Cont’d
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Dr Felik Paulus
Dr Victoria Pechey
Dr Susan Barbara Perel
Dr Angie Natalie Pinto
Dr Duncan Purtill
Dr Dejan Radeski
Dr Rajeev Rajagopal
Dr Jason Matthew Restall
Dr Tanya Elizabeth Robb
Dr Anna Salkeld
Dr Vani Sathyendran
Dr Mohamed Shanavas
Dr Sorab Jehangir Shavaksha
Dr Shivani Singh
Dr Deepak Singhal
Dr Jonathan Alastair Smiles
Dr Heather Louise Smith
Dr Jason Dean Smith
Dr Sun Kun David Song
Dr Daniel De-Wei Suan
Dr Wajiha Sufyan
Dr Nagendraprasad Sungala
Dr Sunaina Talwar
Dr Adeline Tan Yuen Ling
Dr Bassam Bakhetnassar Tawfik
Dr Aung Myo Thant
Dr Philip Alastair Thompson
Dr Chien Christopher Toon
Dr Claire Susan Unwin
Dr Sanchia Juliet Clare Warren
Dr Claire Elizabeth Weatherburn
Dr Dampegamage KN Wijayaratne
Dr Lakmana Arachchige Nilika Gayani Wijeratne
Dr Meepage Thamara Wijesuriya
Dr Deborah Anne Williamson
Dr Alison Winning
Dr Barbara Withers
Dr Wing Cheuk Wong
Dr Daniel Desire Wong-Chung-Lung
Dr Mihri Helene Yilmaz
Dr Ming-Chang Yu
Dr Fouzia Ziad

RECIPIENTS OF AWARDS PRESENTED 2013

DISTINGUISHED FELLOW AWARD

Prof Warwick Britton
Prof Yvonne Cossart AO
Prof John Rasko AO

MERITORIOUS SERVICE AWARD

Dr Michael Aldred
Dr Lawrie Bott
Dr Diane Payton

OUTSTANDING TEACHING AWARD

Dr Victor Ojeda

RCPA RESEARCH AWARD

Dr Angela Chou

STP Best Research Paper Award	

Dr Paul Griffin

KANEMATSU/NOVO NORDISK
RESEARCH AWARD

Dr Jasmine Tay

THE NEIL PRENTICE MEMORIAL
PRIZE (NZ)

Dr Nicky Elizabeth Wallis

THE EDDIE HIRST MEMORIAL PRIZE

Dr Jing Jing Li

THE D S NELSON TRAINEE PRIZE

Dr Andrew Whyte

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION
POSTER PRIZE

Dr Gemma Robertson

RCPA/QAP PTY LTD ORAL PRESENTATION

Dr Genevieve McKew

RCPA/QAP PTY LTD ORAL PRESENTATION

Dr Stephen Peyton
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Information on Directors
Information on Directors Cont’d.
(in office at 30 June 2013)

Officers of the College
Professor Yee Khong
President
MBChB MSc MD FRCPath FRCPA GAICD
Yee Khong, qualified in medicine from the University of Sheffield with a MSc in
Immunology from University of London. He was admitted to Fellowship of the College
in 2000. He started his training in Pathology at the Royal Free Hospital, London before
commencing research at St George’s Hospital Medical School, London. He completed
his pathology training at the John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford, subspecialising in
perinatal/paediatric pathology. He is a member of the Anatomical Pathology Advisory
Committee, and was previously State Councillor for South Australia and Northern Territory, member of the
Pathology Professional Activities Committee, Paediatric Advisory Committee, Anatomical Pathology Advisory
Committee and a nominee on NPAAC. He was elected as President in 2011.

A/Prof Peter Stewart
Senior Vice President
MBBS BSc (Med) Grad Dip Tech Management MBA FRACP FRCPA
Peter is a University of Sydney graduate. He trained in Internal Medicine and was
Research Associate in Nutrition and Pharmacology at John Hopkins for 3 years before
returning to Australia as staff specialist in Clinical Biochemistry at Royal Prince Alfred
Hospital obtaining College Fellowship in 1986. He is currently Director of Pathology at
Sydney South West Pathology. He has served in various roles over the years with the
College, including Treasurer. He is a nominee on NPAAC, chair of the RCPA QAP Pty Ltd and currently Chair of PPAC
and elected as RCPA Vice President in 2009.

Dr Michael Harrison
Vice President
BSc (Med) MBBS (1st class honours) FRCPA
A medical graduate of the University of Queensland, Michael Harrison was admitted to
the Fellowship of the College in 1984 as a general pathologist. Since that time he has
practised at Sullivan Nicolaides Pathology, principally in the fields of chemical pathology
and microbiology. He became CEO/Managing Partner of SNP in 2002. He has been a
member of the Queensland State Council since 2003 and Queensland State Councillor since 2008. Other current
roles include Chairman of the Quality Use of Pathology
Committee from 1999, Chairman of the Medical Testing Accreditation Advisory Committee from 1999, Member
National Pathology Accreditation Advisory Council 2008-9, currently a member of APC and Member, Diagnostics
Expert Advisory Panel, National Prescriber Service. Past roles include PSTC and PCC member, Statistics
Subcommittee of PCC/PSTC and Chairman of AAPP.
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Dr Peter Jessup
Honorary Treasurer
MBBS (Hons) FRCPA
A medical graduate of the University of New South Wales (1978), Peter trained in
anatomical pathology at St Vincent’s Hospital, Sydney, and was admitted to Fellowship
of the College in 1987. After working at teaching hospitals in Sydney, Brisbane and
Melbourne, he moved to Tasmania in 2003, and is a staff specialist at Royal Hobart
Hospital. He served as Councillor for Tasmania from 2006-2010 and was elected RCPA Honorary Treasurer in 2010.

Dr Ian Clark
Honorary Secretary
MBBS (Hons) FRCPA MIAC FASCP IFCAP FAICD
Dr Ian Clark is the Chief Executive Officer and Medical Director of Capital Pathology in
Canberra. Ian graduated with first class honours from Sydney University in 1984 and
trained in pathology at the Royal North Shore Hospital of Sydney. He was admitted to
Fellowship in 1991, after which he joined the Douglass Laboratories practice in Sydney
as a full-time specialist anatomical pathologist. He moved to Capital Pathology, in 1998
as Director of Histopathology and Medical Director, and became CEO in 2007. He is a Senior Clinical Lecturer at the
ANU Medical School. Ian was President of the Australian Association of Pathology Practices (2007- 2009). He has
been a member (and sometimes chair) of PSTC
(2003-2011), chaired the Anatomical Pathology subcommittee of PSTC, and was a member of PCC (2006-2009).
He was President of the Canberra Medical Society (2004-2006) and has been the ACT AMA craft representative for
pathology and Honorary Secretary of the RCPA since 2011.

Dr Michael Dray is a Consultant Histopathologist based at Waikato Hospital. He gained
his medical degree from the University of Otago. His initial medical career saw him in
General Practice for several years. He trained in Anatomical Pathology in Sydney, NSW
for 5 years prior to returning to New Zealand in 2006. He spent 6 years working at
Middlemore Hospital, South Auckland before to moving to his current position. He is
also Chair of the NZ Committee of Pathologists, a Senior Lecturer at the University of Auckland being an active
member of the Bone & Joint Research Group, Secretary of the NZ Society of Pathologists, a Coronial Pathologist,
Scientific Advisory Committee member of the Middlemore
Tissue Bank and member of the IANZ Medial Testing Professional Advisory Committee.
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Dr Michael Dray
Vice President, New Zealand
MBChB (Otago), DCH, Dip Obst, FRCPA
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COUNCILLORS - States
Prof Roger Wilson
Councillor for NSW/ACT
MBChB, FRCPA, FRACMA, Dip Microbiol, Grad Dip Health Law
(with Distinction)
Graduated from Otago University in 1977 and rotated through each discipline of
pathology at Dunedin Hospital from 1980 before completing training in microbiology at
Royal North Shore Hospital Sydney and being admitted to Fellowship in 1985. He was a
consultant clinical microbiologist at Royal Perth Hospital from 1986 and moved to the Nepean & Blue Mountains
Pathology Service in 1996 where he became Director of Pathology. He became Executive Director of South Eastern
Area Laboratory Services (SEALS) in 2001 and remained there until appointed as inaugural Chief Pathologist
of ‘NSW Health Pathology’ in April 2013. Roger became a Fellow of RACMA in 2012, holds an appointment as
Conjoint Professor at UNSW, is Chairman of the RCPA QAP Benchmarking in Pathology program (2003-current),
was President of NCOPP (2006-2010) and has represented NSW Health on NPAAC since 2007. In the past he was
Chair of NSW Health Peak Pathology Committee (2003-2007) and has been a member of the Commonwealth’s
Pathology Consultative Committee and the Quality Use
of Pathology Committee. He was elected Councillor for NSW/ACT in 2012.
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Dr Nick Musgrave
Councillor for Queensland
MBBS FRCPA
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Graduated from the University of Queensland and trained in anatomical pathology
at Royal Brisbane Hospital. Since obtaining Fellowship in 2003 he has worked as a
histopathologist for Sullivan Nicolaides Pathology specialising in gastrointestinal
pathology. He is presently based at the Greenslopes Private Hospital Laboratory
where he is the Pathologist-In-Charge and is a member of SNP’s Executive Advisory
Committee. He has been a member of the Queensland State Committee since 2009,
is currently a member of the Australian Association of Pathology Practices (AAPP) Executive and was elected as
Councillor for Queensland in 2011.

Dr Sophie Otto
Councillor for SA/NT
MBBS, FRCPA
Dr Sophia Otto graduated from the University of Adelaide in 1983, and after a period
of Surgical residency, worked for many years in her own General Practice, as well as
serving as Director and Owner of the Surgical Assistants’ Service, an employer of
doctors providing assistance to surgeons in all specialty groups. She commenced Anatomical Pathology training in late 2001 and when she graduated 5 years later was appointed as a Staff Specialist
by SA Pathology at their Royal Adelaide Hospital site. She has an interest in renal biopsy pathology as well as head
and neck, lymphoma, neuro-oncology and soft tissue pathology.

Information on Directors Cont’d

Dr Elizabeth Tegg
Councillor for Tasmania
MBBS, FRCPA, PhD
Dr Elizabeth Tegg graduated from the University of Tasmania in 1999. She commenced
her pathology training at the Royal Hobart Hospital and finished at Royal North Shore
Hospital and Prince of Wales Hospital NSW. She was admitted to Fellowship of the
College in 2006 in haematology and underwent subsequent training and exams in
genetics with the College. She subsequently returned to Tasmania to undertake a
PhD in the genetic predisposition to haematological malignancies. Currently she works as a pathologist in
haematology and genetics at the Royal Hobart Hospital and is a senior clinical lecturer with the University of
Tasmania. Liz became councilor for Tasmania in 2012.

A/Prof David Ranson
Councillor for Victoria
BMedSci (Hons) BM BS LLB FRCPA FRCPath FACLM FFFLM DMJ(Path)

Dr Bruce Latham
Councillor for Western Australia
MBBS B Med Sci (Hons) FRCPA
Dr Bruce Latham graduated from the University of Western Australia in 1986. Following
four years as a paediatric medicine trainee, he trained in anatomical pathology at Royal
Perth Hospital and in other hospitals in Western Australia. He was admitted to Fellowship
of the College in 1995. He was appointed as a consultant pathologist at Royal Perth Hospital in 1996. He has been
a member of the WA State Committee since 1996 and was on the Anatomical Pathology Advisory Committee from
2003-2010. He was Associate Professor of Pathology at Notre Dame University in 2007-2009 and is currently an
adjunct Associate Professor at the same institution.
His areas of interest include pulmonary pathology, breast pathology and transplant pathology.
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A/Prof Ranson graduated in Medicine from The University of Nottingham in 1980 and
in Law at the University of the West of England in 1987. His postgraduate training in
histopathology was at the City Hospital Nottingham and at the Department of
Pathology at Bristol University. He was admitted to the Membership of the Royal
College of Pathologists of the UK in 1987 and the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia in 1989. A/Prof
Ranson is the Deputy Director of the Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine and holds honorary academic posts
at both Monash and Melbourne Universities. He was appointed a foundation fellow of the Faculty of Forensic and
Legal Medicine of the Royal College of Physicians in the UK and the Australian College of Legal Medicine. He is a
member of the Federal Government’s “Australian Suicide Prevention Advisory Committee” and NATA’s “Forensic
Science Accreditation Advisory Committee”. He has published widely in the fields of forensic medicine, medical
law and pathology and has produced a number of medico-legal policy and research reports and reviews for both
government and private agencies.
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COUNCILLORS - Regional
Prof Pak-Leung Ho
Councillor for Hong Kong
MBBS, MD (HK), FACP (USA), MRCP(UK), FRCPath(UK), FRCPA, FFSc (RCPA),
FHKCPath (HK), FHKAM (HK)
PL Ho is a medical graduate from the University of Hong Kong. He received training as
a physician and clinical microbiologist and is now with the Queen Mary Hospital,
University of Hong Kong. His main research interest is on emerging infectious diseases
and antimicrobial resistance. He was elected Councillor for Hong Kong in 2012.

Professor Soon-Keng Cheong
Councillor for Malaysia
MBBS(Malaya) MRCP(UK) DCP(Lond) FRCP(Glasg) FRCP(Edin) FRCPA
FAM(Malaysia) FASc(Malaysia) FFSc RCPA, FAM(Singapore)
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Dr Cheong is a medical graduate of the University of Malaya, Malaysia and received
his postgraduate training in haematology at the Royal Postgraduate Medical School,
Hammersmith Hospital, London, United Kingdom. He became a Fellow of RCPA in 1992.
He was appointed Emeritus Professor of the National University of Malaysia (UKM) in August 2007 and elected
President of the College of Pathologists, Academy of
Medicine of Malaysia in June 2008. He is currently the Visiting Consultant Haematologist of the UKM Medical
Centre and the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences, University of Tunku
Abdul Rahman.
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Dr Angela PY Chong
Councillor for Singapore
MBBS FRCPA
Dr Chong is a medical graduate from the University of Singapore. She obtained her
training in anatomical pathology at the National University Department of Pathology
and was conferred Fellowship of the College of Pathologists of Australasia in 1988.
She subsequently pursued an interest in cytology with an attachment in Malmo
General Hospital with Dr Karin Lindhom. She later followed this with an attachment
in Kyoto with Dr Masanori Kitaichi for Pulmonary Pathology. Dr Chong is currently with the Department of
Pathology at Singapore General Hospital. She was elected Councillor for Singapore in2009.

Information on Directors Cont’d
COUNCILLORS – Major Committee Chairmen
Tony Landgren
Chairman, Board of Censors
MBBS LLB FRCPA FACLM MRACMA Barrister & Solicitor Supreme Court
of Victoria
Tony Landgren is a graduate in Medicine and Law from the University of Melbourne.
He trained in Anatomical and Forensic Pathology in Victoria and was admitted to
Fellowship in 1990. Tony has worked as a pathologist and administrator in private and
public practice in Queensland, New South Wales and Victoria. He is the Chairman of the
Department of Anatomical Pathology at the Royal Melbourne Hospital and the Chief Pathologist at Healthscope
Limited. His legal practice specialises in Commercial and Biotechnology Law. He holds academic appointments
at the University of Melbourne.

Dr James D’Rozario
Chairman, Board of Education
MBBS FRACP FRCPA
Dr D’Rozario is a University of Adelaide graduate and completed post graduate training
in Internal Medicine and Haematology in Adelaide, Canberra and Sydney. He was
admitted to RACP and RCPA Fellowship in 1999. James returned to Canberra in 2002
where he is now Senior Staff Specialist and Clinical Director of Haematology at The
Canberra Hospital and ACT Pathology and is a Senior Lecturer at the Australian National
University Medical School. He is Director of Physician Training at The Canberra Hospital and currently holds the
role of Chair of the RCPA Board of Education.

Professor Peter Stewart
Chairman PPAC

Dr Colin MacLeod
Chairman, Quality Assurance Scientific and Education Committee (QASEC),
after AGM November 2011
MBBS FRCPA FRACP
Dr MacLeod is a graduate of the University of Sydney and was admitted to Fellowship
of the College in 1976. He is Head of the Departments of Microbiology and Infectious
Diseases at Royal Prince Alfred Hospital in Sydney. Colin served as Honorary Secretary of
the College between 1994 and 2000, and previous to that was the RCPA Registrar for the
Board of Censors. He was the College’s NATA Liaison Officer 1990-2013.
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Holds dual role (see Vice President above)
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Information on Directors Cont’d
COUNCILLORS – Faculty Chairmen
Prof Richard Logan
Chair, Faculty of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology
BDS MDS PhD FFOP(RCPA) FICD FPFA
Richard Logan is a graduate in Dentistry from The University of Adelaide. He completed
a Masters degree in Oral Pathology at the same institution in 1997. He was admitted to
Fellowship in the Faculty of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology in 2007. He completed a PhD
in 2008. Richard was appointed at The University of Adelaide in 2004 and is currently the
Head of Oral Diagnostic Sciences within the School of Dentistry. He has also worked in
SA Pathology as Consultant Oral Pathologist until 2012 and now works as an Oral Pathologist at Clinpath
Laboratories in Adelaide. As well as being Chair of the Faculty of Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology, he is also the
Chair of the Forensic Odontology Committee of the Faculty.

A/Prof Tony Badrick
Chair, Faculty of Science
BA PhD BSc MLiTSt BApp Sc (Med Lab Sc) MBA FFSc FRCPA (Hon)
FAACB FACB FAIMS FAIM
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Tony Badrick is a lecturer in clinical chemistry and pathology within the Faculty of
Health Sciences and Medicine. He has degrees in science, arts and applied science, an
MBA and a PhD in quality management. He has been a laboratory manager in a large
private pathology practice in Queensland as well as a department head in a public
hospital biochemistry department. He is a nominee on the National Pathology
Accreditation Advisory Committee and has been President of the Australasian Association of Clinical
Biochemistry.
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COLLEGE AWARDS
RCPA Distinguished Fellow Award
The highest Award of the College, for Fellows who have made outstanding contributions to pathology in
research, teaching or administration, attaining eminence in their field.
This year there were three recipients seen here
with College President Prof Yee Khong.

(Picture L-R) Prof Warwick
Britton, RCPA President Prof Yee Khong,
Prof Yvonne Cossart, Prof John Rasko

RCPA Outstanding Teaching Award
presented to Dr Victor Ojeda of Perth WA
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College Awards Cont’d.
RCPA Meritorious Service Award
Presented to the following three recipients by College President Prof Yee Khong
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Dr Michael Aldred

Dr Lawrie Bott

Dr Diane Payton
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A pictorial glance at some of
the year’s activities
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The inaugural ‘Pathology Day’ took place in late May
and the College was delighted at the response of
y Day
Patholog
ay
Fellows and Trainees in terms of participation,
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du
.e .au/pa
www.rcpa
and the excellent response to activities that was
shown by all those who came into contact with the
many events. The success has encouraged the College
to embark on an expanded program for 2014.
A selection of the many activities which took place are shown below.
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Pathology Day,
Tuesday 28 May 2013,
an RCPA initiative
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RPA, Camperdown Sydney NSW:
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Release of 2 Position Statements – one on Vitamin D Testing and one on Cancer reporting (with ILPP). A Morning
Tea was held at RPA with 45 attendees including media. The Cancer Statement was announced by RCPA President
Prof Yee Khong, the Vitamin D Position Statement by Dr Michael Harrison. Prof Stan Robboy President of the
College of American Pathologists also spoke.
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Pathology Day
Singapore joins in:
Dr Inny Busmanis in Singapore
reported on their activities to
celebrate Pathology Day in Singapore
with a “guided tour of our new path
lab with step by step information
about tissue processing and analysis
followed by distribution of promotional
material and hopefully some
stimulated minds at the end!”
Pictured: the participating medical
students from Duke-NUS.

Melbourne Victoria:
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John Hayman from the Department
of Pathology at The University of
Melbourne reported that the Pathology
Department at the University of
Melbourne spent time with each
Pathology Group, explaining the
importance of Pathology learning
as being the basis of medical
science, emphasised the breadth
of pathology and explained the
wide range of employment options
available within the specialty. College
giveaways were provided to each student (hand
wash, sticky note pad and a tube of eosinophilic
jelly beans). Pathology journal mouse-pads
(courtesy publishers WKH) were provided to
each computer work-station in the pathology
laboratory (see picture). With these, students
are reminded of pathology and of our journal.
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University of Queensland:
Activities were reported by Julie Ayre,
Curator, Integrated Pathology Learning
Centre, School of Medicine. Members of the
community including high school students,
health advocacy groups, medical educators
and health professionals attended a
presentation highlighting aspects of
pathology practice and research, and
visitors toured the Centre. Presenters
included: Dr Charles Naylor, Forensic
and Scientific Services Helen Jeffcoat,
Supreme Court of Queensland Library
A/Prof Margaret Cummings, UQ
Dr Deborah Smith, UQ Prof Helen Chenery,
UQ Centre for Clinical Research Dr Tom
Robertson, Pathology Queensland
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Prof Sunil Lakhani, UQ Head Discipline
of Molecular and Cellular Pathology,
introducing the seminar
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Presenters (left to right)
Dr Tom Robertson, A/Prof Margaret
Cummings, Dr Deborah Smith,
Helen Jeffcoat, Dr Charles Naylor,
Prof Helen Chenery

The University of New South Wales (UNSW):
The School of Medical Sciences at UNSW embraced RCPA’s initiative. Dr Simone Van Es (Anatomical Pathologist
and Pathology lecturer at UNSW), A/Professor Gary Velan (Associate Professor in Pathology and Head of
Pathology department at UNSW) and Mr Derek Williamson (Director of the Museum of Human Disease, UNSW)
aimed to make the day fun and educational for students, staff and the general public alike. “We wanted to take the
opportunity to teach everyone about diseases and their underlying pathological processes but at the same time
point out that all these diseases are often diagnosed by medical pathologists”.
The Museum of Human Disease was the obvious location and staff were extremely supportive. The day was
advertised widely at UNSW for a couple of weeks in advance via posters, broadcast emails to students,
announcements via UNSW’s Learning Management System and advertisements through Medsoc.
Advertisements were brief and catchy.
The approach was multifaceted as the aim was to produce something that everyone could engage with. A Quiz
was created for all students and staff (and even the general public if they wanted to join in) on the “interesting
facts” that appear in ePathway. Posters were created from the “interesting facts” that appear in all the issues.
These posters were placed around the Museum with their associated specimens if relevant. All participants
received one of the RCPA prizes.
Another Quiz was for Medicine/Medical Sciences student programs. Based on a complex diagnostic puzzle with
competitive appeal, they had to analyse investigations, correlate with the clinical information and answer multiple
choice questions online. Upon submission of the quiz each student was directed to the RCPA home page.
Students had 36 hours to submit their answers online. The overall winner was drawn from
those who scored 100%. The Museum of Human Disease pledged
an iPad mini for winner and iTunes vouchers for runners-up
who also achieved 100%.

Quiz poster at
Pathology Day 2013 at
UNSW
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Many people came through
the Museum of Human
Disease on Pathology Day.
This included groups
organised by the Museum
(a group of nursing students,
several groups of high
school students with their
science teachers), Medicine
students and Medical science
students. The nursing students
and high school students
were thrilled to get some of
the RCPA prizes, all
enthusiastically donning
their Pathology Day badges
as they walked out of
the building.
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Pathology Day a hit at Otago University, NZ:
Robyn Lutzenberger, Departmental Manager, Department of Pathology and Molecular Medicine reported: Since
taking on her new role in March as Head of Pathology and Molecular Medicine, one of Diane Kenwright’s main
aims has been to help UOW and the hospital feel that the department is accessible to them. An important step in
that direction was Pathology Day in May, and the day was a huge success. More than 100 students and staff from
UOW and CCDHB snapped up the opportunity to see the department and enjoy a range of talks, tours and
information about pathology. Donations of giveaways from the College, such as tubes of jellybeans that
resembled tubes of red blood cells, added to the day’s fun, as did spot prizes of big blocks of chocolate.
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“We’ve had lots of spontaneous feedback about how interesting it was – everyone loved it.” It was so successful in
fact that the Department will follow up with an additional Pathology Museum Tour and electron microscopy lab
tour on 14 June.
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Healthscope in Victoria provided 4 sites for Pathology Day
• 	Monash University Medical School Clayton; event run by Dr Dylan Close providing career pathways
for medical students.

• 	At Knox Private Hospital a point of care testing area was provided as well as College material.
Run by Dr Nada Dickinson.

• 	The Northern Hospital had a table in the foyer for the public and small tours of the lab. Run by
Dr Essa Saeedi and Dr David Nickless.

• 	At the Bendigo Hospital there was a morning tea for Nurse Unit Managers and tours of the laboratory
as well as a table in the hospital foyer. Run by Lab manager Lorraine Draeger.
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Pathology Update 2013..... a bird’s eye view

Poster Display
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A quiet corner
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and at the Cocktail Party
and a great night was
had by all at dinner

VALE
From 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013 the College noted the passing of a number of Fellows.
We remember those who have passed and extend condolences to families.
Dr Ian Aarons (SA)
Dr Jennifer May Brown (SA)
A/Prof Royce Ormond Farrelly (NZ)
Dr John Gibbins (NSW)
Dr Gerard John Green (NZ)
Dr Raj Kumar Gupta (NZ)
Dr John Muir Jackson (WA)
Dr Alqis Jankus (SA)
Dr Joseph Kempler (NSW)
A/Prof Jerry Koutts (NSW)
Dr Colin Robert Andrew Laverty, OAM (NSW)
Dr William Dacre McKenzie (Vict)
Dr Robin Eugene Joseph Pavillard (UK)
Dr Carl Ludwig Scholtz (Vict)
Professor Robert Edward Scully (Hon Fell USA)
Dr Jan Richard Stockigt (Vict)
Dr John Tonge CBE (QLD)
Prof Ross Frank Vining (Faculty of Science SA)

Please note that the College is often contacted by Fellows asking why particular names have been omitted from the
vale list. The College can only report if advised of a demise by colleagues or families.
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OBITUARIES

JOHN GIBBINS, 1938-2013
Born in NSW, John Richard Gibbins graduated from dentistry in Sydney in 1959, and after a clinical masters,
completed his PhD. He described his first post-doctoral job, at the Biological Laboratories at Harvard, as ‘’a
transforming experience’’, with James Watson of the double helix just downstairs and ‘’a ferment of scientific
endeavour’’ exploding about him.
He returned to Sydney (1968) with a passion for science that was infectious but never strident. He was a creative
scientist, and ahead of his time in cancer research. Dentistry owes Gibbins an enormous debt because he had
particular charge of pathology teaching for dental students. John was a reader in pathology at the University of
Sydney, and an inspiring researcher and educator. From the early 1960s until his retirement in 2002, he led dental
and medical students to a solid but ever shifting ‘’current understanding’’ of disease, informed by the rapidly
expanding research to which he also contributed. Most of his thousands of students will have vivid memories of
his movies of cells attacking bacteria, or blood pulsing through inflamed tissues.
At a time when there was no discipline of oral pathology in Sydney, John provided a sound education in basic
and systemic pathology for generations of students. He was persistent in helping to establish the University of
Sydney’s founding chair in oral pathology. He was a Founding Fellow of the RCPA Faculty of Oral Pathology (as
it was known then). Only three weeks before his death, having been long retired and critically ill, he went on his
weekly visit to the Institute of Dental Research at Westmead, helping to mentor and encourage junior faculty
academics and research students.
John was well known for rarely answering a question directly. Instead, a dialogue of gently probing questions
and responses would ensue, leading to a sense of discovery, although, occasionally when time seemed short,
conversations could acquire a slightly frustrating riddle-like quality. He was an active and practical man, loved to
learn and teach because it was wonderful to understand things, but he also derived pleasure from applying what
he learnt to real world problems. He built his own house and even made his own first computer. He compensated
for shortfalls in research funding by making his own laboratory equipment, even learnt computer programing to
make educational software for his own use. He brewed his own beer and baked his own bread, for the fun of it and
learnt to fly so that he could take the family on trips.
Apart from his intellect, perhaps what made Gibbins such an outstanding educator was his fundamental
decency and humanity. No matter who he spoke with, he was always polite, concerned, respectful and engaged.
He laughed easily, but never mocked. He set an example of politely contained outrage on matters of importance
or principle.
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Obituaries Cont’d

RAJ GUPTA 1932-2012
Dr Raj Kumar Gupta passed away in Wellington, New Zealand. He served a distinguished career in the
medical profession spanning over 50 years and was a recognised international authority in cytopathology,
where he contributed towards the increased understanding of this complex medical area. He was a Fellow of the
College of American Pathologists (1971), Fellow of the International Academy of Cytology (1977), Diplomate
of the International Board of Cytopathology (1980), Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons
(Canada 1979), and Affiliate of the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia.
India born and educated, he emigrated to North America in 1962, where he trained in pathology at the
Massachusetts General Hospital Harvard Medical School and served as Senior Resident in Anatomic Pathology
completing postgraduate study in cytopathology at Johns Hopkins University (1972).
From 1965 to 1979, Raj was Associate Professor of Pathology at the State University of New York School of
Medicine and its affiliate University Hospitals and as Consultant Pathologist to the Niagara Regional Hospitals and
affiliate laboratories. In 1981 after 2 years at the National University of Singapore, he moved to Wellington,
New Zealand as Senior Consultant Cytopathologist and Head of the Cytology Unit to the Wellington
Regional Hospital and School of Medicine, where he was consulted on literally thousands of cases until his
retirement in December 2003. He continued work in private practice until June 2009.
Dr Gupta specialised in fine-needle aspiration cytology (FNAC), where he was particularly noted for his work.
In 1983, he introduced the FNA procedure to New Zealand and spearheaded its use with the result that the
procedure is now widely used in the New Zealand clinical domain. He also contributed to the development of
a pioneering procedure (at the time) called peritoneal cytology for diagnosing appendicitis, revolutionising
treatment of the condition, saving costs and improving the accuracy of diagnosis by as much as 95%, also having
implications for the diagnosis of abdominal cancer.
Dr Gupta had an extensive publication record as an author of over 250 medical articles in peer-reviewed journals
and published in the top high-ranked international journals in cytopathology, where he illuminated major aspects
of FNAC inspired by clinical problems and rare findings. As a strong proponent of continuing medical education,
Dr Gupta regularly secured and organised visiting lectures Dr Gupta was a member of the editorial boards of a
number of journals and an invited reviewer on many others.
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Throughout his career in cytopathology, Dr Gupta demonstrated a unique dedication and commitment to the
field which was marked by insight, accomplishment, and the ability to share his insight with others, for which he
remained very modest.
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Obituaries Cont’d

DR JOSEPH (JOE) KEMPLER 1946-2012
Born in 1946, Joe arrived in Australia aged two from Slovakia. He showed an early gift for learning everything he
came in contact with, especially an appreciation of books and a deep love of wild life, interests that were life-long.
His childhood was spent in Sydney’s eastern suburbs and he attended Sydney Boy’s High School, achieving many
prizes in both literature and the sciences. He loved Latin and exploring the derivation of language. He went on
to study medicine at Sydney University, and learnt the clarinet for relaxation. He opted to specialise in Pathology,
where his keen observation skills and inquiring mind were put to the test. As a Pathology registrar at Sydney’s
Prince Henry Hospital he met his future wife, Penny marrying in 1975 and moving to the greener pastures of the
Sutherland Shire, where they made frequent trips to the neighbouring national park.

ANNUAL REPORT • 2012 - 2013

After qualifying as a general pathologist (1979) Joe became sole pathologist in the Western Victorian town of
Warrnambool for 3 years, went back to Sydney for a couple of years and in 1984 became one of the two
pathologists at Lismore Base Hospital, in the Northern Rivers of NSW. By 2009 when he retired, there were two
general pathologists and two histopathologists as well as a visiting haematologist and the laboratory had moved
from Federal to State administration with a staff of almost 100 and included hospitals as far away as Tweed Heads
and Grafton. Joe viewed the Northern Rivers as the ideal place to live and bring up a family with its rain forests
and beaches. His incredible dedication and commitment to his job and his expectations that those around had
similar ideals resulted in a deep respect by the local medical fraternity. He was instrumental in the establishment
of various clinico-pathological groups at the hospital, as well as being responsible for autopsies, bone marrows,
fine needle aspiration collection with the radiologists and the oversight of the microbiology and haematology
departments, plus histopathology reporting. In 2009 Joe’s health started to suffer and he retired to the family
macadamia farm in Alstonville, to spend time travelling, bush walking and surfing.

30

Joe had an astute and inquiring mind and could talk knowledgeably about subjects as diverse as poetry and
Shakespeare (which he could quote at length), history and sciences. A passionate learner he enjoyed passing
knowledge to his family. His years as a doctor meant he didn’t always spend as much time as he would have liked
with his young family, but what he did spend was quality time. He always enjoyed supermarket shopping, saying it
kept him in touch with reality. Joe also had a great appreciation of classical music and opera and regularly
attended Musica Viva, choir and orchestra concerts in the region.
A collector, especially of wine (and speeding tickets), he was responsible for introducing the Swedes to
Australian wines at a conference there in 1983 with a selection of quality Australian wines as gifts to the
organisers, not knowing they were part of a European wine appreciation group.
In retirement he took up Italian, with a view to holiday in Italy. Most people would go to class, listen, take notes,
turn up again next week. Joe became totally immersed in the language and culture, joining an Italian/English chat
group via computer and giving the dog her instructions in Italian. Joe jumped at a suggestion to join Rotary and
rapidly made his mark by assisting in establishing the Newcastle University’s Science and Engineering Challenge
for high school students.
Joe drowned on 10 October 2012, suffering a heart attack while surfing.

Obituaries Cont’d

COLIN LAVERTY OAM 1937-2013
Dr Colin Robert Laverty was the first to confirm (using electronmicroscopy) that the human papillomavirus
was much more common in the cervix than previously thought and in 1978 he suggested that this virus be
considered as possibly involved in the causation of cervical cancer. He took this work further and was rewarded
with the Medal of the Order of Australia in 2008, for service to medicine in the fields of gynaecological cytology
and histopathology, particularly through the advancement of cervical screening services in Australia and through
developments in establishing the role of the human papillomavirus in the genesis of cervical cancer; and to art,
particularly Indigenous art both in Australia and overseas.
The son of Sydney medical practitioners Dr Colin (Tas) Laverty and Dr Beryl Laverty, Colin attended Newington
College and then the University of Sydney. He graduated BSc(Med) with honours in 1959, Bachelor of Medicine
and Surgery in 1962, FRCPA Fellowship and Diploma in Cytology in 1969. He specialised early in gynaecological
cytology and histopathology and became a Staff Specialist Pathologist at the Royal Women’s Hospital in
Melbourne and later at King George V Hospital in Sydney.
Colin co-authored more than 50 scientific articles and was a popular invited speaker at medical conferences
in Australia and internationally. He was for many years a member of the Advisory Committee to the Australian
National Cervical Screening Program, multiple NSW Cancer Council Committees, the Committee of the Australian
Society for Colposcopy and Cervical Pathology and the Continuing Education, Quality Assurance and Evolving
Technologies Committees of the International Academy of Cytology.

A researcher was employed and an electron microscopic technique devised which confirmed that HPV particles
were present in these abnormal cells in both cytologic and histologic preparations. In 1978, Dr Laverty was the
first in the world to publish this finding.
Subsequently the histologic features and colposcopic recognition and characterisation of this sub-clinical or
non-condylomatous HPV infection of the cervix were established. Recognition of the frequent and close
association of these noncondylomatous HPV-induced changes with high grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia
(CIN) accepted as preceding life-threatening invasive cancer, led him to also suggest in 1978 the investigation of
the possible role of HPV in genital tract carcinogenesis. The suspicion and subsequent confirmation that
papillomavirus infection was much more common than formerly realised, that most infections were clinically
invisible and at that time unknown to colposcopists, proved to be of profound clinical significance. It changed the
interpretation of Pap smears, cervical biopsies and colposcopic appearances and thus the management of women
with abnormal Pap smears.
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In the mid 1970s, while working as a Specialist Gynaecological Pathologist at King George V Hospital in Sydney,
Dr Laverty developed a special interest in the recognition in the Papanicolaou smear of various female genital
tract infections, in particular those due to agents difficult or impossible to culture. He recognised that cellular
abnormalities known as koilocytosis and koilocytotic or “warty” atypia were more common in Pap smears than
generally realised and in the great majority of cases clinical warts or condylomas were absent, even on careful
clinical examination of the entire female genital tract. This raised the possibility that genital infections due to wart
or papilloma virus were much more common than previously thought, frequently cervical in location and very
uncommonly of recognisable warty contour or configuration.
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Obituaries Cont’d

Articles on quality assurance in cytology published by Dr Laverty and his team concerned the importance of
targeted sampling of the transformation zone (where most pre-cancer and cancer occurs), sampling implement
choice, reporting terminology and management recommendations. He was also interested in the cytologic
recognition of cervical adenocarcinoma in situ (an important subset of cervical cancer precursors) and
demonstrated a place for HPV in this form of cervical cancer also.
Dr Laverty evaluated new slide making and reading technologies, leading to improved Pap smear reporting
accuracy and published some of the very first trials of ThinPrep and CytoRich, technologies now widely
recognised.
In 1982, he founded Dr Colin Laverty and Associates, a private pathology practice which provided specialised
services in gynaecological cytology and histopathology. Approximately 200,000 Pap smears were processed
annually. The practice provided referring general practitioners and gynaecologists with a great deal of educational
material (newsletters, feedback on smear quality etc) aimed at improving standards in cytology. Over many years,
Colin lectured widely on the significance of HPV infection and on a range of gynaecological cytology and Pap
smear screening issues.
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In 1998, his practice was sold and he stayed as Medical Director but retired in mid 2001 to manage, with his
wife Elizabeth, their contemporary art collection. From their collection, works are regularly lent to the Australian
National and State art galleries. In particular, Aboriginal works are regularly sought for exhibition by prestigious
international art museums. He has written a book and published a number of articles on Australian Art. Often
known as the gentle giant, Colin was modest in manner but firm in his opinions. In February 2013 Colin passed
away after a battle with cancer.
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JERRY KOUTTS 1944-2013
Jerry Koutts was a major figure in the field of haematology. He was an innovator in the diagnosis of inherited
bleeding disorders, and founded the clinical haematology department at Westmead Hospital. The third son
of Greek migrant parents Jerry Koutts (anglicised from Gerasimos Koutsoukos) was always proud of his Greek
heritage. He excelled at Newcastle Boys High and his family supported him to study medicine at the University
of Sydney. He graduated with honours in 1968 becoming a RMO at RPA Sydney where his outgoing personality
and sharp mind ensured success in a challenging intellectual environment. He specialised in internal medicine,
became a Fellow of the Royal Australasian College of Physicians, and was attracted by the newly emerging field of
haematology. He met Ann Milne through friends and they married in 1972.
Jerry’s lifelong interest in bleeding and clotting disorders was sparked by Professor Barry Firkin at Monash Medical
School in the Alfred Hospital in Melbourne where he wrote an acclaimed MD thesis on aspects of inherited
bleeding disorders. Post-doctoral experience in coagulation scientific research in Paris at the Bicetre Institute,
and then at the Scripps Clinic in La Jolla, California was undertaken before returning to Australia and accepting a
position as a staff physician at the newly established teaching hospital of the University of Sydney at Westmead.
There was little in the way of specialist medical care in the area at the time, and Koutts established the clinical
haematology department, which provided care for bleeding and clotting disorders, as well as for blood and bone
marrow cancers, including the bone marrow transplant service. Jerry achieved FRCPA in 1981.

Outside his direct professional life, Koutts was very engaged in medical politics, serving as chairman of the
Medical Staff Council at Westmead Hospital, and as an elected member of the board of the Western Sydney Area
Health Service for four years. He was also a founding figure in the formation of the Australasian Association of
Consultant Physicians, the political voice of physicians in Australia, and a ministerial appointee on the Medical
Services Board of NSW. He served as secretary of the Haematology Society of Australia and was a lifelong
supporter of that organisation. Outside of medicine, Koutts was first and foremost a family man, devoted to his
extended family. His boyhood love of the water led to a lifelong preoccupation with boats, fishing, and later with
rowing, the latter culminating in a consuming involvement with the rowing program at Ascham Girls School,
which he was instrumental in establishing. Koutts’ strong curiosity and passion for new things led to many and
varied travels that enabled him to retain links with his extended Greek family.
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As well as being an astute, compassionate and wise physician, Koutts provided strong medical leadership,
attracting young trainee physicians from around the country and internationally to train in haematology in a
robust academic environment. He was appointed Associate Professor of Medicine in the Faculty of Medicine at
the University of Sydney in 1992 in recognition of his teaching and research commitments. Koutts also established
diagnostic facilities for inherited bleeding disorders at the Institute of Clinical Pathology and Medical Research at
Westmead, and later turned to his attentions to diagnostic pathology, becoming head of laboratory haematology
in 1996, and acting director of the institute, where he was a fearless and tireless advocate for public pathology
services in NSW.
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JAN (JIM) STOCKIGT 1938 - 2012
Australia lost one of its foremost endocrinologists with the death of Jim Stockigt from pancreatic cancer at the
age of 73. He achieved an international reputation in two fields of endocrine research: first in the investigation
of causes of hypertension, and then in the understanding of thyroid disease. He championed the role of the
clinical-laboratory interface for optimal treatment of hormonal diseases. In addition to his distinguished medical
career, he was a noted bassoonist as a player of the modern instrument and the baroque bassoon, becoming a
collector and curator of the baroque bassoon repertoire.
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Born in Germany, the son of professional musicians, he came to Australia in 1946 and attended Trinity Grammar,
then won a scholarship to Scotch College. He entered the medical school of the University of Melbourne in 1956,
graduating sixth in his class with a prize in clinical surgery. During his medical studies he maintained his passion
for music. His specialty training in endocrinology was at The Alfred hospital under Pincus Taft, one of Australia’s
premier clinical endocrinologists. He then became a teaching fellow at Prince Henry’s Hospital in the new Monash
University Department of Medicine headed by the distinguished endocrinologist Bryan Hudson. After further
postgraduate study (MRCP and MD), he was awarded a Squibb fellowship in 1968 to work in the department
of physiology, University of California, headed by William Ganong. Stockigt described how at the last minute,
courtesy of Kevin Catt, an Australian medical researcher, he learnt the then new technique of radioimmunoassay
of angiotensin. Unthinkable today, he took a thermos containing the antibody, radioactive tracer and standards
with him to San Francisco and set up the first highly sensitive assay for renin in the world. His clinical studies in
San Francisco were a key training period for him, and were followed by a year at St Mary’s Hospital in London. He
returned to Melbourne as the Deputy Director of the Ewen Downie Metabolic Unit at The Alfred and an Associate
Professor of Medicine at Monash University.
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With Taft’s support, he modernised The Alfred’s laboratory, setting up radioimmunoassay platforms. While
continuing work on endocrine hypertension, thyroid disease became his major interest. His internationally
recognised work included studies on thyroid hormone changes in critical illness and the mechanisms of unusual
genetic serum protein-binding abnormalities of thyroid hormones. He also undertook a prolonged critical
assessment of thyroid hormone assays, achieving an international reputation in free hormone-assay methodology.
He achieved fellowship of the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia (FRCPA) and in 2002 he was a Visiting
Professor for the College.
Jim became department director at The Alfred in 1978 and a full professor of medicine in 1992. He remained
director until 1995 but, with the restructuring of Victorian public hospitals, he relinquished the directorship,
continuing as a senior endocrinologist until 2005. He also began a private practice at Epworth Hospital in 1995
and continued to practise as a clinical endocrinologist until shortly before his death.
He was secretary and then president of the Endocrine Society of Australia (1990-92). As a vice-president of the
Asia and Oceania Thyroid Association, he helped establish the organisation and forged strong links with overseas
bodies, playing a major role in international thyroid congresses.
Passionate about teaching, Jim’s clear exposition of complex clinical problems, founded on careful medical history
and examination, a profound understanding of physiology and disease, and precise use, documentation, and
interpretation of laboratory tests, was inspirational and set a standard of clinical excellence that the many
endocrinologists who trained under him have sought to follow.

MEETINGs OF COUNCILLORS

During the financial year 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013, four (4) meetings of Council
and nine (9) meetings of the Executive Committee took place.

Committee Meetings
(Executive Committee)

Councillors’
Meetings

List of
Councillors

Eligible
to attend

Number
attended

Number eligible
to attend

Number
attended

Dr Stephen Adelstein

3

2		

Dr Michael Aldred

3

1		

Prof Tony Badrick

4

3		

Dr Lawrie Bott

2

1		

Dr Soon-Keng Cheong

4

2		

Dr Angela Chong

4

3		

Dr Ian Clark

4

4

Dr James D’Rozario

4

1		

Dr Michael Dray

1

1

6

5

Dr Michael Harrison

4

4

9

9

Prof Pak Leung Ho

1

1		

Dr Peter Jessup

4

4

9

8

Prof Teck Yee Khong

4

4

9

9

Prof Tony Landgren

4

3

Dr Bruce Latham

4

3		

Prof Richard Logan

1

1		

Dr Colin MacLeod

4

4		

Dr Nick Musgrave

4

4		

A/Prof John Nicholls

3

2		

Dr Sophie Otto

4

4		

Dr David Ranson

4

3		

Dr Richard Steele

3

3		

A/Prof Peter Stewart

4

4

Dr Elizabeth Tegg

2

2

Prof Roger Wilson

1

1		

9

9

8

6
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Indemnifying Officers or Auditor
Indemnifying Officers or Auditor
During or since the end of the financial year the
College has given an indemnity or entered an
agreement to indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay
insurance premiums as follows:
The Insurer agrees to pay on behalf of each Insured
Person(s) all Loss for which each Insured Person(s) may
not be indemnified by the College and which such
Insured Person(s) becomes legally obligated to pay
on account of any Claim first made against him/her
individually or otherwise and notified to the Insurer
during the Period of Insurance for a Wrongful Act after
the Retroactive Date. For these purposes the Insurer
will not be liable to pay where to do so would be
prohibitive by law.
Councillor and Officer mean any past, present or future
Councillor, Secretary, Executive Officer or employee of
the College.
The company has paid premiums to insure each of the
Councillors against liabilities for costs and expenses
incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings
arising out of their conduct while acting in the
capacity of Councillor of the College, other than
conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in relation to
the College. The amount of the premium was $6,671
covering all Councillors and Officers within Australia
and Members of the New Zealand Committee.
The College has not, during or since the financial year,
indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the
College or any related entity against a liability incurred
by the auditor. During the financial year, the College
has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to
insure the auditor of the College or any related entity.
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Options
The College is not in the practice of issuing share
options as it is a Not for Profit organisation.
Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act
2001 is set out on page 39.

Auditor
BDO East Coast Partnership continues in office in
accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act
2001.

Proceedings on Behalf of College

Proceedings on Behalf of College
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring
proceedings on behalf of the College or intervene in
any proceedings to which the College is a party for
the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
College for all or any part of those proceedings.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of Councillors.

T Y Khong				
President					

P Jessup
Honorary Treasurer

Dated this Twentieth day of September 2013
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Councillors’ Declaration

Councillors’ Declaration
The Councillors of The Royal College of Pathologists of
Australasia (“the College”) declare that:
1 	The financial statements, comprising the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
statement of financial position, statement of
cash flows, statement of changes in equity and
accompanying notes give a true and fair view
of the College’s financial position as at 30 June
2013 and of its performance for the year ended
on that date.
2	In the Councillors’ opinion there are reasonable
grounds to believe that the College will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a
resolution of the Councillors.

T Y Khong				
President					

P Jessup
Honorary Treasurer

Dated this Twentieth day of September 2013
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Auditor’s Independence DECLARATION
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Independence Audit REPORT
To members
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Independent Audit Report to Members Cont’d
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIALYEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
Note

Revenues

3

Grant revenue

5(b)

Non operating revenue

4

5,561,045

10,511,972

9,980,483

1,370,720

1,143,930

(2,920,989)

(2,685,461)

(98,940)

(132,435)

(1,002,554)

(889,247)

Professional fees

(500,218)

(547,807)

Premises expenses

(109,487)

(128,053)

Travel and accommodation expenses

(712,556)

(749,455)

(10,511,972)

(9,980,483)

(595,644)

(513,379)

(134,299)

(121,716)

1,135,000

937,422

-

-

1,135,000

937,422

Depreciation expense

5(a)

Conferencing/educational program expenses

Grant expenses

5(b)

Other expenses
Finance & investment costs

5(a)

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
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2012
$

5,838,967

Employee benefits expense

42

2013
$

1(a)

Profit after income tax
Other Comprehensive Income:
Other comprehensive income for the year net of income tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

1,135,000

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
1

937,422

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2013
Note
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets
Financial assets

6
7
8
9

2013
$

2012
$
4,740,561
2,601,828
301,929
6,128,066

16,386,806

13,772,384

7,107
2,578,232

7,107
2,254,667

2,585,339

2,261,774

18,972,145

16,034,158

973,249
20,449
453,874
8,281,414

1,089,830
25,884
424,601
6,379,403

9,728,986

7,919,718

47,546
67,126

60,820
60,133

114,672

120,953

TOTAL LIABILITIES

9,843,658

8,040,671

NET ASSETS

9,128,487

7,993,487

EQUITY
Retained earnings

9,128,487

7,993,487

TOTAL EQUITY

9,128,487

7,993,487

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Financial assets
Property, plant and equipment

9
10

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Short term borrowings
Short term provisions
Other current liabilities

11
12
13
11

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long term borrowings
Long term provisions

12
13

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
2
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6,164,312
2,509,493
290,523
7,422,478
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Statement OF Cash FlowS

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
Note

2013
$

2012
$

6,490,360
350,375
486,603
12,085,247
(7,639)
(16,452,545)

6,845,756
318,650
543,938
9,633,295
(8,359)
(15,590,340)

2,952,401

1,742,940

Payments for plant and equipment
Payments for investments

(422,504)
(1,087,437)

(97,729)
(778,359)

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,509,941)

(876,088)

Repayment of finance lease commitments

(18,709)

(17,678)

Net cash used in financing activities

(18,709)

(17,678)

1,423,751
4,740,561

849,174
3,891,387

6,164,312

4,740,561

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from subscriptions and examination fees
Interest & dividends received
Donations received
Grant income received
Finance costs paid
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash provided by operating activities

22(b)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in cash held
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year
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22(a)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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3

Statement of Changes in Equity

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Retained Earnings

4,645,145

2,410,920

RCPA
Foundation
$
(Note 15)
-

-

(325,718)

325,718

-

4,645,145

2,085,202

325,718

7,056,065

687,481

(59,685)

309,626

937,422

-

-

-

-

General Fund
$
Balance at 1 July 2011
Transfer of funds
Profit/(Loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

ER Fund
$

Total
$
7,056,065

687,481

(59,685)

309,626

937,422

Balance at 30 June 2012

5,332,626

2,025,517

635,344

7,993,487

Balance at 1 July 2012

5,332,626

2,025,517

635,344

7,993,487

Profit/(Loss) for the year

699,978

(97,532)

532,554

1,135,000

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 30 June 2013

699,978

(97,532)

532,554

1,135,000

6,032,604

1,927,985

1,167,898

9,128,487
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
1.

Significant Accounting Policies
The financial report of The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia for the financial year
th
ended 30 June 2013 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of
Councillors, dated 20 September, 2013.
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001, as
appropriate for not for profit oriented entities. These financial statements do not fully comply
with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).
The financial report is for The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia, (“the College”),
as an individual entity. The College is a not for profit entity limited by guarantee, and is
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars which is the College’s functional and
presentational currency.
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs
and does not take into account changing money values or, except where stated, current
valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in
exchange for assets. The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the College in the
preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied,
unless otherwise stated.
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(a)

Income Tax
The College is classified as a scientific and educational institution by the Australian Taxation
Office and therefore, in accordance with section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997,
is exempt from tax.

(b)

Property Plant and Equipment
Items of property plant and equipment, other than those items noted below, are measured on a
cost basis and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.
Buildings
The College’s buildings are heritage listed and are being fully maintained. Accordingly, no loss
of service potential has occurred during the financial year. Heritage listed buildings have an
indefinite life and accordingly, no depreciation has been charged. In addition, as indicated in
Note 10 to the financial statements, the carrying value of the land and buildings is at cost and
does not exceed their recoverable amount. Building valuations are completed every three
years.
In 2013 an exception was made to this policy for the cost of renovations to the kitchen in
Durham Hall. The renovations are expected to have a useful life of 10 years and are being
depreciated on a straight line basis.

5
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Notes to the Financial Statements Cont’d

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
1.
(b)

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property Plant and Equipment (continued)
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is measured on a cost basis less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by
Councillors to ensure that it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from those assets.
The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows, which will
be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash
flows have not been discounted to present values in determining the recoverable amount.
The Councillors of the College do not consider the wall hangings, portraits, presidential
medallion and chain, historical books, Maori carved panel and the cedar table to be
depreciating assets (that is they are capital appreciating assets) and as such no depreciation
has been charged to them. The carrying value of these items is at cost.
The depreciation is charged on straight line basis and the rates used for each class of assets
are as follows:
Class of fixed asset

Depreciation rate

Owned plant and equipment
Leased plant and equipment

5 – 40%
20%

Web Site Development
The costs of developing the web site are recognised as asset and are depreciated over the
useful life of the asset. The useful life of the web site is limited due to rapid technological
changes and generally would be expected to have a short useful life. Accordingly, a useful life of
two and half years has been adopted for this asset.
Leases
Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership
of the asset, but not legal ownership, are transferred to the College and classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised in recording an asset and a liability equal to the
present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
where it is likely that the College will obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the
lease. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the
lease interest expense for the period.
Lease payments under operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain
with the lessor, are charged as an expense through the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis.
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(c)
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Notes to the Financial Statements Cont’d

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
1.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d)

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on trade date which includes
transaction costs when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purposes of selling in
the short-term or it so designated by management and within the requirement of AASB 139:
Financial Instruments: Recognition & Measurement. Realised and unrealised gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value of these assets are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise.
Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective rate
of interest method.
Financial Liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost using the effective rate of
interest method, comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisation.
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Investments
Shares in listed companies are measured on the cost basis. The carrying amount of
investments is reviewed annually by Councillors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable
amount of these investments. The recoverable amount is assessed from the quoted market
value for shares in listed companies or the underlying net assets for other non-listed
corporations. The expected net cash flows from investments have not been discounted to their
present value in determining the recoverable amounts.
(e) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions during the period are converted to Australian dollars at the
rates of exchange applicable at the date of the transaction. Amounts receivable and payable
in foreign currencies at the reporting date are converted at the rates of exchange ruling at
that date. It is the policy of the College not to hedge their foreign currency transactions.
The gains and losses from conversion of assets and liabilities, whether realised or
unrealised, are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
as they arise.

7
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Notes to the Financial Statements Cont’d

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
1.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(f) Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the College’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered
by employees to the reporting date. Employee benefits expected to be settled within one year
together with benefits arising from wages and salaries and annual leave, which will be settled
after one year, have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is
settled plus related on-costs.
Contributions are made by the College to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as
expenses when incurred.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in call
deposits with banks or financial institutions, investments in money market instruments maturing
within less than three months, net of bank overdrafts.
(h) Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to
conform to changes in presentation for the current financial year.

(i)

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income in the period in which they are incurred.

(j) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset
or liability in the Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of
cash flow arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable
to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
(k)

Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, the College reviews the carrying value of its tangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the assets, being the higher of the assets fair value less costs
to sell and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the assets
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income.
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Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax
(GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of an asset or as part of the expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Cont’d

THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
1.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(k)

Impairment of Assets (continued)
Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the College would, if deprived of the asset, replace
its future economic benefits. Value in use is the depreciated replacement cost of an asset.

(l)

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The Councillors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data obtained
externally. The key areas where the directors have exercised judgements are: recoverability of
trade debtors and depreciation expenses on property, plant and equipment.

(m)

Grants
The College receives grant monies to fund projects either for contracted periods of time or for
specific projects irrespective of the period of time required to complete those projects. It is the
policy of the College to treat grant monies as deferred grant income in the Statement of
Financial Position where the entity is contractually obliged to provide the services in a
subsequent financial period to when the grant is received or in the case of specific project grants
where the project has not been completed.

(n)

Revenue Recognition Policy
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Significant revenue streams:
-‐-‐Subscriptions and examination fees are recognised in the period to which they relate.
--Donations and registration fees are recognised in the period in which they are received.
--Grant revenue is recognised as and when the related costs to which they are intended to
compensate are incurred.
--Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate.
(o)

New, Revised and Amended Standards and Interpretations
AASB 119 Employee Benefits (September 2011) and AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011)
This revised standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The amendments eliminate the corridor approach
for the deferral of gains and losses; streamlines the presentation of changes in assets and
liabilities arising from defined benefit plans, including requiring re-measurements to be
presented in other comprehensive income; and enhances the disclosure requirements for
defined benefit plans. The amendments also changed the definition of short-term employee
benefits, from 'due to' to 'expected to' be settled within 12 months. This will require annual leave
that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months to be discounted allowing for expected
salary levels in the future period when the leave is expected to be taken. The adoption of the
revised standard from 1 July 2013 is expected to reduce the reported annual leave liability and
increase disclosures of the College.
AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirement
These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July
2013, with early adoption not permitted. They amend AASB 124 'Related Party Disclosures' by
9
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Notes to the Financial Statements Cont’d
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
1.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(o)

New, Revised and Amended Standards and Interpretations (continued)
removing the disclosure requirements for individual key management personnel ('KMP'). The
adoption of these amendments from 1 July 2014 will remove the duplication of information
relating to individual KMP in the notes to the financial statements and the directors report. As the
aggregate disclosures are still required by AASB 124 and during the transitional period the
requirements may be included in the Corporations Act or other legislation, it is expected that the
amendments will not have a material impact on the College.

2.

Entity Limited by Guarantee
The College is limited by guarantee under the Corporations Act 2001. The amount of capital,
which is capable of being called up, in the event of, and only for the purpose of a winding up of
the College, is not to exceed $20 per member by virtue of the College’s Constitution.
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Notes to the Financial Statements Cont’d
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
Note
3.

Revenue
Subscriptions
Registration fees
Examination fees
Pathology update conference

4.

2012
$

3,151,013
617,801
1,068,413
1,001,740
5,838,967

3,000,175
578,055
947,415
1,035,400
5,561,045

60,044
100
486,503
579,793
140,406
103,874
1,370,720

53,375
258,537
285,401
280,716
626
180,199
85,076
1,143,430

78,086
20,854
98,940

111,232
21,203
132,435

Remuneration of College auditor
- Audit of financial report
- Audit of grants

45,000
6,230

46,000
7,750

Impairment of trade receivables

96,444

35,915

Bad debts written off

50,164

-

75,314
39,096
12,250
7,639
134,299

71,836
36,439
5,082
8,359
121,716

-

51,479

Non operating revenue
Dividends received
Donations received – Education & Research Fund
Donations received – RCPA Foundation
Other revenue
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Interest on cash
Interest from managed funds

5.

2013
$

15
5(c)

Profit
(a) Expenses
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Depreciation of non-current owned assets
Depreciation of non-current leased assets

52

Finance & Investment costs:
Merchant charges for credit card facility
Investment charges
Bank fees and charges
Interest charges
Lease finance charges
Loss on financial assets through profit or loss:
Equities

11

Notes to the Financial Statements Cont’d
THE ROYAL COLLEGE OF PATHOLOGISTS OF AUSTRALASIA
ABN 52 000 173 231

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

5.

2013
$

Profit (continued)

2012
$

(b) Significant Revenues and Expenses
The following revenue and expenses are relevant in
explaining the financial performance of the College:
Donations received from a related entity (Refer Note
20)

-

250,000

10,024
10,024
129,022

-

Grant – Virtual Microscope System:
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

11,396

11,396

Grant – Genetic Testing Survey
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant income

60,097
60,097
9,604

858
858
22,141

189,304
189,304
77,531

215
215
69,785

42,000

-

178,329
178,329
-

304,778
304,778
149,934

Included in revenue per Note 4 and other expenses per
the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income are the following revenues and
expenses resulting from specific grants received by the
College. Grant revenue is recognised as expenses are
incurred, any excess of Grant receipts over Grant
expenses is recognised in the Statement of Financial
Position as Deferred Grant Income. Unexpended Grant
income is returned to the Grant provider.
Grant Standardisation of Pathology Information Terms
& Units
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

Grant—Common Sense Pathology
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Grant—Standardisation of Pathology Terms & Units
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income

12
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Grant—Electronic Decision Support for Pathology
Requesting
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
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5.

2013
$

Profit (continued)

2012
$

(b) Significant Revenues and Expenses (continued)
Grant—Standards for Accreditation of DNA Sequence
Variation Data Bases
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Other Small Grants
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Grant—Benefits and Risks of Pathology Testing
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
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Grant—Transformation of RCPA Manual
Revenue
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
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Grant—QA in Morphological & Interpretative Pathology
Disciplines
Revenue
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Grant—Curriculum Development Project
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Grant—Structural Pathology Reporting of Cancer
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Grant—Specialist Training Program
Revenues
Expenses
Deferred Grant Income
Total Grant Revenues
Total Grant Expenses
Total Deferred Grant Income

13

115,000

-

9,988
9,988
8,255

8,346

-

86,267
86,267
-

27,600

-

193,000

-

-

6,733
6,733
-

239,755
239,755
45,245

228,956
228,956
34,256

9,824,475
9,824,475
3,373,576

9,352,676
9,352,676
2,170,418

10,511,972
10,511,972
4,032,229

9,980,483
9,980,483
2,466,276

-
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5.

Profit (continued)

2013
$

(c) Other Revenue
Advertising revenue
Royalties from pathology journal
Editorial support for pathology journal
Growth in the value of financial assets held at fair value
through profit or loss
Rental income – related parties
Revenue from educational courses
Sundry revenue
6.

8,200
188,068
39,262

13,326
86,152
36,300

206,975
10,000
28,497
98,791
579,793

10,131
78,183
56,624
280,716

6,163,812
500

4,740,061
500

6,164,312

4,740,561

Current
Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment

2,673,608
(197,544)

2,586,940
(101,100)

-amounts receivable from related parties (Note 20)
-amounts receivable from Dept of Health & Ageing

2,476,064
33,429
-

2,485,840
28,572
87,416

2,509,493

2,601,828

163,478
127,045
290,523

160,158
20,795
120,976
301,929

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank
Cash on hand

7.

8.

2012
$

Trade and Other Receivables

Other Current Assets

The Cash held on behalf of State Committees, its ultimate ownership rests with the College. State
Committees have discretion over the use of this cash.
9.

Financial Assets
Current
Managed Investments at fair value through profit or loss
- Cash Management
- Fixed Interest – securities
- Equities (shares and similar investments)
- Property (securities)
Non-Current
Shares in listed corporations
- At cost

14

3,789,916
2,257,993
1,358,644
15,925

3,308,129
1,709,185
1,097,529
13,223

7,422,478

6,128,066

7,107

7,107

7,107

7,107
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Prepayments
Other current assets
Cash held on behalf of State Committees
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9.

Financial Assets (continued)

The financial instruments recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position have been
analysed and classified using a fair value hierarchy reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making
the measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of the following levels:
-‐
-‐
-‐

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and
inputs from the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).

All of the College’s financial instruments fit into Level 2 of the hierarchy.

10.

2013
$

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property
Land and building improvements
Less: accumulated depreciation
Land and buildings – at cost [refer note 1 (b)]

80,091
(5,176)
1,968,964

1,968,964

Total property

2,043,879

1,968,964

Plant and Equipment – General Fund
Office furniture – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

107,838
(101,503)

108,746
(99,811)

6,335

8,935

344,180
(328,575)

340,133
(320,318)

15,605

19,815

4,135
4,750

4,135
4,750

8,885

8,885

255,681
(255,681)

255,681
(255,681)

-

-

1,452,804
(1,326,298)

1,375,994
(1,256,246)

126,506

119,748

104,382
(40,393)

104,382
(19,540)

63,989

84,842

6,682

6,682

ANNUAL REPORT • 2012 - 2013

Office equipment and machines – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
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2012
$

Wall hangings – at cost
Maori carved panel – at cost

Survey equipment – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

Computer equipment – at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

Leased assets – at cost
Less accumulated amortisation

Honour boards – at cost

15
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10.

2013
$

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
Plant and Equipment – Education or Research Fund
Library furniture at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

2012
$

2,960
(2,960)

2,960
(2,960)

-

-

2,565
4,595
4,700
1,575

2,565
4,595
4,700
1,575

13,435

13,435

Total Plant and Equipment

241,437

262,342

Work in progress

292,916

23,361

2,578,232

2,254,667

Portraits – at cost
Historical books – at cost
Cedar table – at cost
Medals – at cost

Total Property, Plant and Equipment
(a) Movement in carrying amounts

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning
and end of the current year are as follows:
Land and
Buildings
$

Computer
Equipment &
Software
$

Plant and
Equipment
$

Work in
progress
Building
$

Work in
progress
Website
$

Leased
Assets

Total

$

$

1,968,964
80,091
(5,176)

119,748
68,812
(62,054)

57,752
4,047
(10,857)

46,265
-

23,361
223,290
-

84,842
(20,853)

2,254,667
422,505
(98,940)

Carrying amount at the
end of year

2,043,879

126,506

50,942

46,265

246,651

63,989

2,578,232

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning
and end of the current year are as follows:

(b) Fair value of land and buildings
The Councillors obtained professional advice from an Insurance Valuer to ascertain the insurance
replacement value of the freehold properties owned by the College. The advice received was a formal
valuation and was dated 1 May, 2011. Based on the valuation provided, the two properties have a current
replacement value of $3.78 million. This valuation takes into account the age and condition of the properties,
recent comparable sales and the fact that the properties are heritage listed. The above values do not include
costs of realisation, estimated to be in the range of 3% to 4%. In the Councillors opinion, this valuation and
current market conditions continue to support that the cost of the property is not in excess of the recoverable
amount.

16
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Balance at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation expense
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11.

2013
$

2012
$

120,563
515,913
336,773
973,249

156,859
565,542
367,429
1,089,830

4,032,229
4,249,185
8,281,414

2,458,954
3,920,449
6,379,403

Current (secured)
Lease liability (Note 14)

20,449

25,884

Non Current (secured)
Lease liability (Note 14)

47,546

60,820

Total current and non current secured liabilities

67,995

86,704

Current
Employee benefits:
Opening balance
Movements during the year
Closing balance

424,601
29,273
453,874

270,196
154,405
424,601

Non Current
Employee benefits:
Opening balance
Movements during the year
Closing balance

60,133
6,993
67,126

35,228
24,905
60,133

521,000

484,734

Trade and Other Payables
Current (unsecured)
Trade creditors
Accruals
Other current payables
Total trade and other payables
Other Current Liabilities (unsecured)
Grant income deferred
Revenue received in advance
Total other liabilities

12.
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13.

58

Borrowings

Provisions

Aggregate employee benefit liability

Provision for long term Employee Benefits
A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to long service leave. In calculating
the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave
taken is based on historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria relating to employee benefits
have been included in Note 1 of this financial report.
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2013
$
14.

2012
$

Capital and Lease Commitments
(a) Finance Lease Commitments Payable:
- not later than one year
- later than one year but not later than five years
Minimum lease payments
Less future finance charges

25,884
51,769
77,653
(9,658)

25,884
77,653
103,537
(16,832)

Total lease liability

67,995

86,705

The finance lease on office plant and equipment, which commenced in July 2011, is a 5-year
lease. The lease payments are paid quarterly in advance. The security for this lease is the
asset being leased under this arrangement.
(b) Operating Lease Commitments Payable:
The College has operating lease commitments payable as at 30
June 2013 of $12,596 (2012: $17,178).
- no later than one year
- later than two years but no later than five years
Total operating lease commitments

4,580
8,016

4,580
12,598

12,596

17,178

(c) Capital Expenditure
The College does not have any capital expenditure commitments payable as at 30 June 2013
(2012: Nil).

RCPA Foundation for Education and Research
Opening balance
Transferred from Education and Research Fund

635,344
-

325,703

Income from donations
Investment income
Total income for the year

486,503
46,051

285,401
24,240

532,554

309,641

Closing balance

1,167,898

635,344

Represented by;
Cash at bank
Managed investments – Cash management

62,513
1,105,385

6,040
629,304

Total fund

1,167,898

635,344

18
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15.
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15. RCPA Foundation for Education and Research (continued)
The RCPA Foundation for Education and Research was established as a College fund in 2012.
The fund was created from donations received specifically to support grants and other forms of
assistance for Pathologists and Scientists undertaking further education and relevant research.
The College Council has formed an independent committee to administer the RCPA Foundation
for Education and Research.

16. Remuneration of Councillors
The Councillors of the College received no remuneration or benefits during the financial year
(2012: nil).
Councillors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report
unless otherwise stated.
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Dr Richard Steele (completed term Nov 2012)
Prof Teck Yee Khong
Prof Peter Stewart
Dr Nicholas Musgrave
Prof John Nicholls (completed term Nov 2012)
Dr Peter Jessup
Dr Michael Aldred (completed term Nov 2012)
Dr Roger Wilson (appointed Nov 2012)
Dr Michael Dray (appointed Nov 2012)
Dr Pak-Leung Ho (appointed Nov 2012)
Dr Angela Chong
Dr Sophia Otto
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Dr Bruce Latham
Dr James D’Rozario
Dr Colin Macleod
Prof Anthony Landgren
Dr Michael Harrison
A/Prof. David Ranson
Dr Ian Clark
Dr Stephen Adelstein (completed term Nov 2012)
Dr Soon-Keng Cheong
Dr Tony Badrick
Dr Elizabeth Tegg
Prof Richard Logan (appointed Nov 2012)
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17.

Key Management Personnel Remuneration
The total compensation of key management personnel is as follows:

18.

Salary
Fees

Superannuation
Contributions

Bonus

Total

2013

$
549,474

$
48,499

$
25,500

$
623,473

2012

510,025

47,839

25,500

583,364

Contingent Liabilities
The Councillors of the College are not aware of any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2013.

19.

Events Subsequent to Reporting Date
Since the end of the financial year ended 30 June 2013 the Councillors are not aware of any material
events or transactions which would affect the financial position or performance of the College.

20.

Related Party Transactions
During the year the College entered into the following transactions
with the following entities.

2013
$

2012
$

68,607

41,947

Rent received for office space used by IAP

10,000

10,000

Administration charge contribution from IAP

94,012

73,369

-

250,000

5,010

11,854

28,419

15,007

Other transactions not on normal commercial terms:
Discretionary donations received from QAP
Amount owed by QAP at balance date
Amount owed by IAP at balance date
Term of payment for QAP and IAP is 30 days from the date of invoice.

20
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Administration charge contribution from QAP
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20.

Related Party Transactions (continued)
QAP, full name RCPA Quality Assurance Programs Pty Limited, was established under a Trust
Deed set up by the Council of the College. The members of the QAP Board of Directors are
Fellows of the College.
IAP, full name International Academy of Pathology, leases office space from the College, and
shares other office facilities with the College. IAP’s payroll is managed by College staff.

21.

Segment Reporting
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The College operates in one operating segment, being the promotion of the study and practice of
pathology in Australasia.
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2013
$
22.

2012
$

Cash Flow Information
(a) Reconciliations of Cash
Cash at bank
Cash on hand

6,163,812
500
6,164,312

4,740,061
500
4,740,561

1,135,000

937,422

(b) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit
after Income Tax
Profit after income tax
Non-cash flows in profit
98,940
96,444
50,164
(206,975)
-

132,435
(75,069)
(626)
51,479
(123)

(54,273)
17,475
(6,069)
(116,581)
36,266
1,902,010

284,960
53,841
305
275,262
179,310
(96,256)

Cash flows from operating activities

2,952,401

1,742,940

Financial Risk Management
Capital Management
The capital structure of the College primarily consists of trading assets and liabilities
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss and borrowings. As the structure of
the College is such that it is limited by guarantee, operating cash flows are used to maintain
the above trading assets and liabilities. Other than the finance lease as detailed in Note 12,
the College does not utilise any other form of third party debt and given the strong cash
position this has not changed during the financial year and not anticipated to change going
forward.
The capital resources available to the College are primarily used for carrying out day to day
operations. Approximately 55% of the cash reserves are invested in a combination of cash
deposits, fixed interest securities and equities. The equity component is restricted to a
maximum of 24% of the total investment portfolio, which is reflective of the Councillors
managing the risk associated with such financial assets.
Although the College does not have a documented policy to manage the levels and types of
risks it is exposed to, the Councillors consider that the monitoring of market fluctuations,
interest rates and economic forecasts, along with the analysis of specific credit allowances
adequately addresses the College’s exposure to such risks.
22
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23.

Depreciation
Provision of doubtful debts
Bad debts
Gain on disposal of fixed asset
Fair value (gain) on financial assets through to profit or loss
Loss on foreign currency exchange
Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Decrease in prepayments
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
(Decrease)/increase in creditors and accruals
Increase in provisions
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
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23.

Financial Risk Management (continued)
Financial Instruments
The College holds the following financial instruments:

Financial Assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets held at fair value
through profit or loss
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

2013
$

2012
$

2,509,493
6,164,313

2,622,623
4,740,561

7,429,585

6,128,066

973,249
67,996

1,085,587
86,704

Risk Exposures
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market interest rates. The College’s exposure to interest rate risk primarily arises
from interest applied to managed investments held at fair value through profit and loss and
the cash deposits held.
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Interest rate risk is generally managed by ensuring the split of the managed investments is
geared more towards fixed interest securities and cash deposits. Cash levels held in the
bank are maintained to ensure that the College’s liabilities can be met with any excess
allocated to managed investments
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for floating rate financial instruments:
The following table details the effects on net profit and net assets if the interest rate was to
increase by 2% and decrease by 2%. This assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Increased by 2%
Decreased by 2%

Profit/(loss)
2013
2012
$
$
105,831
91,528
(105,831)
(91,528)

2013
$
105,831
(105,831)

Equity

2012
$
91,528
(91,528)

Credit Risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security,
at reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net
of any provisions for impairment, as detailed above.
The cash and cash equivalents are currently held at Westpac Banking Corporation and the
managed investments are handled by UBS Wealth Management on the College’s behalf.
The Councillors believe the credit risk associated with these counterparties to be minimal.
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23.

Financial Risk Management (continued)

Credit	
  Risk	
  (continued)	
  
	
  

The trade and other receivables relates primarily to monies due from members of the
College. The College trades only with reputable and creditworthy third parties. Furthermore,
the majority of its customer base actively seeks membership of the College in order to gain
essential affiliation services. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally
on 30-60 day terms. A provision for impairment loss is recognised when there is objective
evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. An impairment loss of $50,164
(2012: Nil) has been recognised by the College during the current financial year, and this
amount is included in the Other Expenses in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income.
The College manages the credit risk by following a step-by-step process, constant
reminders are sent to outstanding debtors. For those who are still outstanding after
reminders, a list will be provided to Councillors for making personal contact. When debtors
become more than two years outstanding, two registered letters will be sent, demanding
payment, these fellows will be put on notice that if no payments are received, their
fellowship will be terminated. In most cases fellows will make arrangements to pay
outstanding debts. Those who still remain outstanding after these demands will be removed
from the fellowship database.

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables were as follows:

	
  

Opening Balance
Additional Provision
Amounts written off against the provision
Closing Balance

	
  

	
  

	
  

	
  

	
  

	
  

	
  

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

	
  

2013
$
2,345,231
6,090
122,059
84,609
149,048
2,707,037

	
  

2012
$
176,169
35,915
(110,984)
101,100

	
  

2012
$
2,398,823
4,051
5,866
107,978
186,210
2,702,928

The remaining trade and other receivables represent amounts outstanding from the
Department of Health and Ageing, no significant amounts are past due at the reporting date
and the Councillors believe the credit risk associated with them to be minimal.
Currency Risk
At 30 June 2012, the College had the following exposure to foreign currency that is not
hedged:
2013
2012
$
$
Cash and cash equivalents
$NZD
63,801
49,160
The effect of volatility of foreign exchange rates within expected reasonable possible
movements would not be material to the College’s results and therefore a sensitivity
analysis has not been performed.
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Standard Terms
61 – 90 Days
90 days – 1 year
1 year – 2 years
Over 2 years
Total

	
  

2013
$
101,100
96,444
197,544
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23.

Financial Risk Management (continued)
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will not be able to meet its financial obligations
associated with financial liabilities as and when they fall due. The College manages liquidity
risk by monitoring cash flows and the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities to
ensure that it will always have sufficient liquid resources to meet its liabilities as and when
they fall due.
The following table details the College’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities detailed above. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the College can be required
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
The cash flows associated with trade and other payables equal the carrying value and will
be fully paid within 6 months of the reporting date.
Financial Liabilities

Finance Lease

<6months
2013
2012
$
$
12,942 12,942

6-12months
2013
2012
$
$
12,942 12,942

1-5years
2013
2012
$
$
51,768
77,652

Total
2013
2012
$
$
77,652 103,536

The College’s cash and cash equivalents are more than adequate to cover the above
commitments, and the councillors expect them to remain so for future periods.

ANNUAL REPORT • 2012 - 2013

Price Risk
The College is exposed to price risk through its financial assets, which consist of marketquoted equities which are held in a managed fund. These assets are held at fair value
through profit and loss.
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The following sensitivity analysis demonstrates the potential effect on the College’s profit for
the year and its net assets if the market prices of these equities were to change, assuming
all other variables remain constant:

Increased by 5%
Decreased by 5%

Profit/(Loss)
2013
2012
$
$
68,728
55,538
(65,456)
(52,893)

2013
$
68,728
(65,456)

Equity

2012
$
55,538
(52,893)

Fair values of financial instruments
It is noted that the carrying value of all financial instruments at the reporting date are equal
to their fair value.
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24.

Employees
Number of employees at the reporting date

25.

2013

2012

38

35

College Details
The registered office and principal place of business of the College is:
Durham Hall
207 Albion Street
SURRY HILLS NSW 2010
The College operates in the field of pathology in Australasia, promoting the study of the
science and practice of pathology and encouraging the research in pathology and ancillary
sciences.
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ABN 52 000 173 231
Durham Hall
207 Albion Street
Surry Hills NSW 2010
Australia
Telephone

61 2 8356 5858

Facsimile

61 2 8356 5828

Email

rcpa@rcpa.edu.au

Website

www.rcpa.edu.au
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